IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 18 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COUNT

Legistry Clerk

CASE NO.

90,729

LAURI A. ELLIS, Appellee.

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLOBEDA BAR NO. 325791

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 159089

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE (S)
TABLE OF CONTENTS
TABLE OF CITATIONS
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
<u>ISSUE</u>
IS THERE ANY STATUTORY INTERPRETATION THAT RENDERS CONSTITUTIONAL THE PORTION OF THE PERJURY CHAPTER, \$837.011(3), FLA. STAT., DESIGNATING MATERIALITY AS A QUESTION OF LAW FOR THE TRIAL JUDGE'S DETERMINATION? 6
A. Jurisdiction and the Statutes at Issue 6
B. The Florida Legislature's Discretion to Eliminate Materiality as an Element
C. Standards of Appellate Review and Statutory Interpretation
D. Applying Principles of Statutory Interpretation 14
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
APPENDIX

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>CASES</u> PAGE (S)
Adams v. Murphy, 394 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 1981) 16
<u>Albrecht v. State</u> , 444 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 1984) 20
City of Miami Beach v. Galbut, 626 So. 2d 192 (Fla. 1993) . 12
<u>Dorsey v. State</u> , 402 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 1981)
Escobar v. State, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S412 (Fla. July 10, 1997) 19
<u>Federal Government, Irvine v. California</u> , 347 U.S. 128, 74 S.Ct. 381, 98 L.Ed. 561 (1954)
Firestone v. News-Press Publishing Co., 538 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1989)
<u>Hirsch v. State</u> , 279 So. 2d 866 (Fla. 1973) 15
Industrial Fire & Casualty Insurance Co. v. Kwechin, 447 So. 2d 1337 (Fla.1983)
M.F. v. State, 583 So. 2d 1383 (Fla. 1991)
Marsh v. Garwood, 65 So. 2d 15 (Fla.1953)
McMillan v. Penn., 477 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 2411, 91 L. Ed. 2d 67 (1986)
<u>Patterson [v. N.Y.</u> , 432 U.S. 197 (1977)] 8-10
Sandlin v. Criminal Justice Standards & Training Com'n, 531 So. 2d 1344 (Fla. 1988)
<u>Spencer v. Texas</u> , 385 U.S. 554, 87 S. Ct. 648, 17 L. Ed. 2d 606 (1967)
<u>Speiser v. Randall</u> , 357 U.S. 513, 78 S.Ct. 1332, 2 L.Ed.2d 1460 (1958)
Standard Jury Instructions-Criminal Cases No. 92-1, 603 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 1992)
<u>State v. Bales</u> , 343 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 1977)
<u>State v. Bender</u> , 382 So. 2d 697 (Fla. 1980) 20
State v. Elder, 382 So. 2d 687 (Fla.1980)

<u>State v. Ellis</u> , 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1298 (Fla. 1st DCA May 22, 1997)
<u>State v. Glosson</u> , 462 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1985) 18, 20
<u>State v. Smith</u> , 547 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1989)
<u>State v. Stalder</u> , 630 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1994) 11, 15
<u>State v. Webb</u> , 398 So. 2d 820 (Fla. 1981) 13, 16
<u>Taylor v. State</u> , 634 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 1994) 21
<u>U.S. v. Gaudin</u> ,U.S , 115 S. Ct. 2310, 132 L. Ed. 2d 444 (1995)
<u>U.S. v. Wells</u> , 519 U.S, 117 S. Ct. 921, 137 L. Ed. 2d 107 (1997)
<u>FLORIDA STATUTES</u> Ch. 74-383, §53, Laws of Fla
Chapter 837, Fla. Stat
\$26.012, Fla. Stat
§827.04, Fla. Stat
§837.011, Fla. Stat 1 et sec
§837.02, Fla. Stat
§837.021, Fla. Stat
§943.13, Fla. Stat
CONSTITUTION, RULES, AND OTHER AUTHORITIES Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const
Fla. R. App. P. 9.030
Fla. R. Cr. P. 3.140
Fla. R. Cr. P. 3.152
Fla R Cr P 3 191

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, the State of Florida, the Petitioner in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Appellant, the prosecution, or the State. Appellee, Lauri A. Ellis, the Respondent in the First District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Appellee or her proper name.

The record on appeal consists of the items A through G attached as the Appendix to the State's Petition for Writ of Certiorari filed in the DCA. References to facts, therefore, will be designated by the A-through-G letter in that Appendix, followed by any appropriate page number within the volume. For example, "App G 2" would indicate page 2 of Appendix G.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State appeals from a decision of the First District Court of Appeal that upheld the trial court's order (App G) striking down Section 837.011(3), Fla. Stat., as "unconstitutional under the United States Constitution." The DCA decision was reported at 22 Fla. L. Weekly D1298, and it is attached in electronically downloaded format as the Appendix to this brief. Events leading up to that DCA decision follow.

On June 4, 1994, Lauri A. Ellis, the Appellee here and the Respondent in the DCA, telephoned the pediatrics ward at the Naval Hospital, at Naval Air Station, Jacksonville. At that time, she stated that her stepson, two-and-a-half year old Timothy Ellis, Jr., had suffered a seizure. A Naval Hospital employee evaluated the information related to him on the telephone and told Appellee to call 911 and have the child brought to the nearest emergency medical facility. One hour and twenty minutes later, Appellee arrived at the Naval Hospital with the child. The child was suffering from severe head trauma and was transferred from the Naval Hospital to University Hospital in Jacksonville. The child subsequently died as a result of the head injuries (App A).

Appellee's husband, Timothy Ellis, Sr., was subsequently arrested and charged with the murder of Timothy Ellis, Jr. During the pendency of the murder charges against Timothy Ellis, Sr., Appellee provided testimony during a discovery deposition on October 4, 1994 and December 13, 1994. During the discovery deposition, Appellee testified under oath that immediately following the June 4 telephone call, she drove the victim to the Naval Hospital, arriving in fifteen minutes. Appellee's deposition testimony conflicted with the recollection of the Naval Hospital personnel and the hospital records, indicating the one hour and twenty minute time span. (App A)

Furthermore, during the discovery deposition, Appellee testified that on May 18, 1994, she contacted Dr.

Catherine Macyko at the Naval Hospital regarding one of the victim's siblings striking him in the head with a bat.

Dr. Macyko indicated that no such contact was made by the Appellee on May 18, 1994, and no such contact is reflected in the records of the Naval Hospital. Dr. Macyko further indicated that she did not become aware of the allegations regarding the baseball bat until June 4, 1994, when the victim was brought to the emergency room with the severe head trauma. (App A)

Based on Appellee's allegedly false statements made under oath during the discovery deposition, Special Agent Tom Asimos, of the United States Naval Investigative Services, swore to an affidavit for an arrest warrant for Appellee (App A). As a result, Judge Henry Martin of the Fourth Judicial Circuit of Florida issued a warrant for Appellee's arrest on May 21, 1996 (App A).

On May 22, 1996, Appellee was arrested by Investigator B. L. Abramowitz of the State Attorney's Office, pursuant to the arrest warrant (App B). On May 30, 1996, an information was filed charging Appellee with Perjury in Official Proceedings [§837.02(1), Fla. Stat.] and Child Abuse [§827.04(2), Fla. Stat.] (App C). On June 6, 1996, Appellee was arraigned on the charges and entered a plea of not guilty.

On July 19, 1996, Appellee filed a Motion to Dismiss Count One of the Information (App D). Appellee claimed that Florida Statute, Section 837.02(1) is unconstitutional. Appellee alleged that Florida's Perjury statute is unconstitutional because Florida Statutes, section 837.011(3) provides that the

determination of a matter as material is a question of law, thereby depriving Appellee of her right to a trial by jury on the issue of materiality. Appellee relied primarily upon U.S. v. Gaudin, __U.S.___ , 115 S.Ct 2310, 132 L.Ed 2d 444 (1995). (App D) On August 6, 1996, the State filed a Memorandum of Law in Opposition to the Appellee's Motion to Dismiss Count 1, cited several cases, and distinguished Gaudin. (App E).

On August 6, 1996, the trial court heard the arguments of the State and the Appellee on the Motion to Dismiss. (App F). On August 12, 1996, the trial court issued an order denying the Appellee's Motion to Dismiss and specifically found that the following statutory provision is "unconstitutional under the United States Constitution":

Whether a matter is material in a given factual situation is a question of law.

§837.011(3), Fla. Stat. The trial court ordered:

The question of materiality will be submitted to the jury. Counsel for the State and Defense are directed to provide to the Court prior to trial proposed jury instructions as to Count I consistent with this Order.

(App G)

It is from this Order of the trial court that the State sought a Writ of Certiorari from the DCA. On May 22, 1997, the DCA denied the certiorari and held:

The trial court correctly determined that section 837.011(3) is unconstitutional in this respect, and properly indicated that the issue of materiality in this case would be submitted to the jury.

22 Fla. L. Weekly at D1298. The majority of the panel derived its conclusion from interpreting the elements of Perjury in Section 837.02(1), Fla. Stat.: "It is clear that materiality is an element of the crime in this case." 22 Fla. L. Weekly at D1298.

Judge Miner dissented at length. He discussed precedential and legislative history, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at D1299-1300, distinguished <u>Gaudin</u> based on comparing the language in the statute here with the federal statute there, 22 Fla. L. Weekly at D1301, invoked the interpretive maxim requiring construction of a statute to "sustain its constitutionality," <u>Id.</u>, and concluded:

Remembering that it is a constitution we are construing, we must be on guard not to expand the role of the court in the process, particularly when to do so serves to invalidate what, to my mind, is a perfectly legitimate exercise of legislative power.

Id.

The State filed its Notice to Invoke Jurisdiction in the DCA, resulting in the present case and this brief before this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State agrees with the DCA that this case distills to whether the legislature has designated materiality as an element of Perjury. Thus, this case turns on statutory interpretation, with one interpretation rendering a statute unconstitutional and one rendering it constitutional. The trial judge and the DCA contravened well-settled principles of statutory construction in opting for the one resulting in unconstitutionality, thereby also producing the absurd result of entirely nullifying a statutory provision. Such a result does not reasonably effectuate legislative intent. Judge Miner's dissent was well-reasoned and merits approval.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

IS THERE ANY STATUTORY INTERPRETATION THAT RENDERS CONSTITUTIONAL THE PORTION OF THE PERJURY CHAPTER, §837.011(3), FLA. STAT., DESIGNATING MATERIALITY AS A QUESTION OF LAW FOR THE TRIAL JUDGE'S DETERMINATION?

A. Jurisdiction and the Statutes at Issue.

This Court has jurisdiction:

The Supreme Court [s]hall hear appeals ... from decisions of district courts of appeal declaring invalid a state statute

Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const. Accord Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii).

The DCA declared Section 837.011(3), Fla. Stat., unconstitutional. The statute reads as follows:

(3) 'Material matter' means any subject, regardless of its admissibility under the rules of evidence, which could affect the course or outcome of the proceeding. Whether a matter is material in a given factual situation is a question of law.

The DCA reasoned that the foregoing statute is unconstitutional because Section 837.02(1), Fla. Stat., under which Appellee was prosecuted, designated materiality as an element:

(1) Whoever makes a false statement, which he does not believe to be true, under oath in an official proceeding in regard to any material matter shall be guilty of a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.

B. The Florida Legislature's Discretion to Eliminate Materiality as an Element.

The trial court and DCA erroneously thought that <u>Gaudin</u> controlled. It does not control because the federal statute in <u>Gaudin</u> is significantly different from the Florida statutes at issue here. The federal statute in <u>Gaudin</u> lacked the language which renders the Florida statute constitutionally sound. Since the State contends <u>infra</u> that this statutory language eliminates materiality as an element in Florida, a basic prerequisite to this argument is whether Florida can constitutionally do this. In other words, does the Florida legislature constitutionally have the discretion to eliminate materiality as an element of Perjury? If it has no such discretion, the inquiry ends.

Each state, including Florida, has this discretion. A legislature may entirely dispense with materiality as a matter for the State to prove in a perjury prosecution:

Nothing in the court's decision stands as a barrier to legislatures that wish to define - or have defined - the elements of their criminal laws in such a way as to remove issues such as materiality from the jury's consideration. *** Within broad constitutional bounds, legislatures have flexibility in defining the elements of a criminal offense. ***

United States v. Gaudin, ___U.S.___, 115 S.Ct 2310, 2321, 132

L.Ed 2d 444, 459 (1995) (Chief Justice Rehnquist, Justices

O'Connor and Breyer concurring; collecting authorities).

Accordingly, Justice Scalia, writing for Gaudin's majority,

distinguished federal perjury, where the rule allowing the trial

judge to find materiality was solely created through judicial

interpretation, from English law, where Parliament created the

rule, 115 S.Ct. at 2316, 132 L.Ed. 2d at 453. In contrast to

Gaudin, here Florida's legislature explicitly created the rule in

Section 837.011(3). Thus, Sections 837.011(3) and 837.02 are

significantly different than the statute at issue in Gaudin and

constitute a legitimate exercise of legislative discretion.

McMillan v. Penn., 477 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 2411, 91 L.Ed.2d 67, 75-76 (1986), illuminated and illustrated the states' vast discretion in determining the elements of crimes the prosecution must prove beyond a reasonable doubt to a jury:

Patterson [v. N.Y., 432 U.S. 197 (1977)] stressed that in determining what facts must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt the state legislature's definition of the elements of the offense is usually dispositive: '[T]he Due Process Clause requires the prosecution to prove beyond a reasonable doubt all

of the elements included in the definition of the offense of which the defendant is charged." Id., at 210 (emphasis added [in McMillan]). While 'there are obviously constitutional limits beyond which the States may not go in this regard, 'ibid., '[t]he applicability of the reasonable-doubt standard ... has always been dependent on how a State defines the offense that is charged in any given case, 'id., at 211, n. 12, 97 S.Ct., at 2327. Patterson rests on a

premise that bears repeating here:

'It goes without saying that preventing and dealing with crime is much more the business of the States than it is of the Federal Government, Irvine v. California, 347 U.S. 128, 134 [74 S.Ct. 381, 384, 98 L.Ed. 561] (1954) (plurality opinion), and that we should not lightly construe the Constitution so as to intrude upon the administration of justice by the individual States. Among other things, it is normally 'within the power of the State to regulate procedures under which its laws are carried out, including the burden of producing evidence and the burden of persuasion, ' and its decision in this regard is not subject to proscription under the Due Process Clause unless 'it offends some principle of justice so rooted in the traditions and conscience of our people as to be ranked as fundamental.' Speiser v. Randall, 357 U.S. 513, 523 [78 S.Ct. 1332, 1341, 2 L.Ed.2d 1460] (1958).' Id. 432 U.S., at 201-202, 97 S.Ct., at 2322 (citations omitted).

McMillan upheld a statutory provision that, in part, "'up[ed] the ante' ... by raising to five years the minimum sentence which may be imposed within the statutory plan." 477 U.S. at, 106 S.Ct. at 2417.

McMillan stressed the nature of the "federal system, which demands '[t]olerance for a spectrum of state procedures,'" 477 U.S. at 90, 106 S.Ct. at 2418 quoting Spencer v. Texas, 385 U.S. 554, 566, 87 S.Ct. 648, 655, 17 L.Ed.2d 606 (1967), and reasoned that the states' discretion includes

making changes in their criminal law that have the effect of making it easier for the prosecution to

obtain convictions. 'From the vantage point of the Constitution, a change in law favorable to defendants is not necessarily good, nor is an innovation favorable to the prosecution necessarily bad.' Jeffries & Stephan, Defenses, Presumptions, and Burden of Proof in the Criminal Law, 88 Yale L.J. 1325, 1361 (1979).

477 U.S. at 89 n. 5, 106 S.Ct. at 2418 n. 5.

Accordingly, under Patterson v. N.Y., 432 U.S. 197, 97 S.Ct. 2319, 53 L.Ed.2d 281 (1977), each State could designate immateriality as an affirmative defense. Therefore, as New York could define Murder as an "intentional killing," leaving it up to the defendant to show "mitigating circumstances," 432 U.S. at 206, 97 S.Ct. at 2325, Florida could define Perjury as "making any false statement, which he does not believe to be true, under oath," \$837.02(1), Fla. Stat., while providing for immateriality as an affirmative defense "demonstrat[ing] ... mitigating circumstances," 432 U.S. at 206, 97 S.Ct. at 2325. Here, rather than an affirmative defense, requiring the defense to produce evidence to convince the jury, the legislature has, in its discretion, chosen to require the State to produce the evidence to convince the judge.

This year, <u>U.S. v. Wells</u>, 519 U.S.____, 117 S.Ct. 921, 924, 137 L.Ed.2d 107 (1997), in essence, applied this principle of legislative discretion in interpreting a federal statute as not including a materiality element, thereby upholding the trial court's jury instruction divesting the jury of deciding materiality. <u>Wells</u> held that materiality was not an element even though the "indictment charged respondents with submitting one or

more statements that were both false and 'material,'" Id. The
United States Supreme Court rejected the application of Gaudin
and the rule of lenity, interpreted the statute not to include
materiality as an element, and vacated the decision of the Eighth
Circuit to the contrary. Thus, although the federal statute and
its history were distinct from Florida's perjury statute, Wells
illustrates the legislature's discretion in determining whether
materiality is an element and the non-applicability of Gaudin
where it is not an element.

The State contends here that, under well-settled principles of statutory construction, materiality is not an element of Perjury in Florida and that, therefore, <u>Gaudin</u> does not apply.

C. Standards of Appellate Review and Statutory Interpretation.

State v. Stalder, 630 So.2d 1072, 1076 (Fla. 1994), summarized the applicable standard of appellate review of the constitutionality of a state statute:

We note that in assessing a statute's constitutionality, this Court is bound 'to resolve all doubts as to the validity of [the] statute in favor of its constitutionality, provided the statute may be given a fair construction that is consistent with the federal and state constitutions as well as with the legislative intent.' State v. Elder, 382 So.2d 687, 690 (Fla.1980). Further, '[w]henever possible, a statute should be construed so as not to conflict with the constitution. Just as federal courts are authorized to place narrowing constructions on acts of Congress, this Court may, under the proper circumstances, do the same with a state statute when to do so does not effectively rewrite the enactment.' Firestone v. News-Press Publishing Co., 538 So.2d 457, 459-60 (Fla.1989) (citations omitted).

State v. Bales, 343 So.2d 9, 11 (Fla. 1977), applied these principles in interpreting the meaning of criminal provisions regulating massages so that they did not "trespass[] upon the enjoyment of sexual relations between married couples" or "regulate a simple handshake or a slap on the back":

[I]t should be clear that 'gratuity' means 'tip' and that the phrase does not mean 'for free.' This construction should put at rest any confusion which might develop on that score.

These principles were also applied in <u>Sandlin v. Criminal</u>

<u>Justice Standards & Training Com'n</u>, 531 So.2d 1344, 1346 (Fla. 1988), which rejected a "literal reading" of a statute (§943.13, Fla. Stat.) that would have rendered it unconstitutional, reasoning:

The legislature will be presumed to have intended a constitutional result. Marsh v. Garwood, 65 So.2d 15 (Fla.1953). Moreover, courts will avoid declaring a statute unconstitutional if such statute can be fairly construed in a constitutional manner. Industrial Fire & Casualty Insurance Co. v. Kwechin, 447 So.2d 1337 (Fla.1983). Such a construction is possible in this case.

We thus approach the question of whether or not section 943.13 and the concept of pardons can coexist. We believe they can, but in doing so we must select one of contrary views on the effect of a pardon on an eligibility statute for employment.

Consistent with the maxim that a statute should be interpreted so that it is constitutional, this Court has indicated that interpretations that would be absurd or unreasonable must be rejected. See, e.g., City of Miami Beach v. Galbut, 626 So. 2d 192, 193 (Fla. 1993) ("statute's plain and ordinary meaning must be given effect unless to do so would lead to an unreasonable or

ridiculous result"); State v. Smith, 547 So. 2d 613, 615 (Fla. 1989) (three-step process of determining meaning of statute: first, apply plain meaning; second, if plain meaning unclear, interpret and effectuate the legislative intent; and, "[t]he third rule or step is the application of the rule of lenity"; steps include avoiding unreasonable results); Dorsey v. State, 402 So. 2d 1178, 1180, 1183 (Fla. 1981) (interpretation of RICO statute; "such conflict would present at most a problem of construction and not a constitutional defect"; "a well-settled principle that statutes must be construed so as to avoid absurd results").

State v. Webb, 398 So.2d 820, 824 (Fla. 1981)(interpreting
Florida Stop and Frisk Law), summarized:

It is a fundamental rule of statutory construction that legislative intent is the polestar by which the court must be guided, and this intent must be given effect even though it may contradict the strict letter of the statute. Furthermore, construction of a statute which would lead to an absurd or unreasonable result or would render a statute purposeless should be avoided. To determine legislative intent, we must consider the act as a whole 'the evil to be corrected, the language of the act, including its title, the history of its enactment, and the state of the law already in existence bearing on the subject.'

Thus, in its role defining crimes, the presumption that the "legislature ... intended a constitutional result," <u>Sandlin</u>, avoids the "absurd result," <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Dorsey</u>, of striking down a statute when it could have been interpreted in a manner comporting with the constitution.

In sum, this case distills to an issue of statutory interpretation. As elaborated in the next section, if Sections 837.011(3), Fla. Stat., and Section 837.02, Fla. Stat., given their language, intent, and the emergence of the <u>Gaudin</u> decision, are construed to establish materiality as an **element** of perjury that the judge alone can decide, then Section 837.011(3), Fla. Stat., is unconstitutional under <u>Gaudin</u>. However, if they can be construed so that they do not establish materiality as an element, then the trial judge can constitutionally decide the matter of materiality. The latter interpretation, if plausible, comports with the obvious: The legislature does not intend that its statutory language be nullified; this would be an absurd result.

D. Applying Principles of Statutory Interpretation.

The question becomes whether Section 837.02's mention of materiality <u>per se</u> elevates it to element status regardless of the legislative intent expressed in Section 837.011(3) and regardless of the effect such an interpretation has on the statutory scheme.

1. Reading Sections 837.02 and 837.011(3), Fla. Stat., in pari materia.

The State respectfully submits that, where the legislature has not explicitly designated materiality as an element of perjury and where it has explicitly stated its intent that materiality is a question of law, a "fair construction that is

consistent with the federal and state constitutions as well as with the legislative intent," <u>Stalder supra</u>, is that materiality is not an element of perjury.

Nowhere does Chapter 837 designate, in so many words, materiality as an element of perjury. However, Section 837.011(3) explicitly designates materiality as a "question of law," which, as a question of law, axiomatically **must** be decided by the trial judge. See also Section 837.021(2), Fla. Stat. ("question of law to be determined by the court"). Thus, the explicit provision vis-a-vis the implied provision should prevail.

Chapter 837 is not the same as when it was when Hirsch v.

State, 279 So.2d 866 (Fla. 1973), was decided. The DCA's reliance upon Hirsch illustrates its opting for a statutory interpretation rendering legislation unconstitutional when there is a reasonable option to the contrary. Hirsch was decided in 1973, but the statutory language at issue was added by the 1974 legislature,

See Ch. 74-383, \$53. Thus, Hirsch did not interpret the statute as presently constituted and as enlightened by Gaudin. Hirsch did not have the benefit of Gaudin, but, more importantly, it did not have the benefit of Section 837.011(3), the very statute that the DCA decided was unconstitutional. The DCA interpreted Section 837.02 in isolation, without the benefit of the legislative intent of Section 837.011, and then used that isolated

Indeed, the issue in <u>Hirsch</u> did not even concern materiality but rather the inadmissibility of hearsay evidence. Thus, <u>Hirsch</u>'s passing litany of elements was not part of its holding.

interpretation to strike down Section 837.011.² This interpretation violated the obvious legislative intent of reading Section 837.011(3) in pari materia with Section 837.02 — indeed, the former section defines terms in the latter one.

2. Reading Each Statutory Provision in Isolation of the Other so that Each Is Effectuated.

Today, in 1997, it must be assumed that the legislature intends that Section 837.011(3), Fla. Stat., remain as viable as it constitutionally can. Arguendo, it may also be assumed that the legislature intended the full effectuation of materiality as a prerequisite to a successful Perjury prosecution pursuant to Section 837.02(1), Fla. Stat. In Webb's words, if possible and reasonable, each statute should be construed so that it is not rendered "purposeless," 398 So.2d at 824. The only statutory interpretation that maintains the vitality of materiality in Section 837.02 while also effectuating the language of Section 837.011(3) is to allow the trial judge to determine materiality as a threshold matter.

As represented by an officer of the Court, the State at first thought it must acknowledge that the reasoning in Adams v. Murphy, 394 So.2d 411 (Fla. 1981), discussed materiality as an element of Perjury. However, although a 1981 case, Adams cited to the 1973 statute as controlling there and indicated that it would have to refer to "decisional law," 394 So.2d at 413, in the absence of statutory guidance. Subsequent to the 1973 statutes, the legislature did provide guidance, on which the State relies here, i.e., Section 837.011(3), Fla. Stat.

3. Pertinent Jury Instructions Consistent with Constitutionality.

Sections 837.011(3) and 837.02 are substantially the same now as when this Court excluded materiality from the elements of Perjury in Standard Jury Instructions-Criminal Cases No. 92-1, 603 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1992):

PERJURY (Amended) (NOT IN AN OFFICIAL PROCEEDING--F.S. 837.012) (IN AN OFFICIAL PROCEEDING--F.S. 837.02)

Before you can find the defendant guilty of [Perjury Not in an Official Proceeding] [Perjury in an Official Proceeding], the State must prove the following five elements beyond a reasonable doubt: Elements 1. (Defendant) took an oath or

- 1. (Defendant) took an oath or otherwise affirmed that [he] [she] was obligated by conscience or by law to speak the truth in (describe proceedings, official or unofficial, in which the alleged oath was taken).
- The oath or affirmation was made to (person allegedly administering oath), who was a (official capacity).
- 3. (Defendant), while under an oath, made the statement (read from charge).
- 4. The statement was false.
- 5. (Defendant) did not believe the statement was true when [he] [she] made it.

The law requires the judge to decide if the alleged statement is applicable material, and I have decided that it is material. Therefore, you will not further concern yourself with this issue.

Here, Florida's legislative branch, as properly recognized by this Court's jury instructions, Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim)

Perjury FS 837.02, has "regulate[d]" its "procedures," McMillan supra, by making materiality a threshold question of law for the trial judge rather than a question of essential-element fact for

the jury. Congress had not done this in the statute <u>Gaudin</u> analyzed.

4. Florida's Statutory Scheme as an Innovation Adding a Layer of Protection <u>for</u> a Defendant.

The foregoing sections argue that Sections 837.011(3) and 837.02 pose a burden to establish materiality yet, to maintain the constitutionality of Section 837.011(3), they do not elevate materiality to element status. In essence, then, Florida's statutory scheme implements what McMillan had characterized not only as a regulation of procedures but also as an "innovation," 477 U.S. at 89 n. 5, 106 S.Ct. at 2418 n. 5, within federalism's constitutional "'[t]olerance for a spectrum of state procedures." 477 U.S. at 90, 106 S.Ct. at 2418.

A fortiori, unlike the statute in McMillan that "up[ed] the ante" on defendants by raising the minimum sentence, here the statutory plan adds a layer of protection for the defendant. In this sense, the trial judge's determination of materiality is like trial judge's threshold determinations that, for example,

• the government engaged in outrageous conduct, <u>See State v.</u>

<u>Glosson</u>, 462 So.2d 1082, 1085 (Fla. 1985) ("we hold that a trial court may properly dismiss criminal charges for constitutional due process violations in cases where an informant stands to gain a contingent fee conditioned on cooperation and testimony in the criminal prosecution when that testimony is critical to a successful prosecution");

- defendants should be severed due to their confessions, <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, Fla. R. Cr. P. 3.152(b)("... a statement of a codefendant makes reference to him or her ..."); <u>Escobar v. State</u>, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S412 (Fla. July 10, 1997) (reversed murder conviction because trial court erred in not severing defendants' trials "then by admitting into evidence at the joint trial the codefendant's statement, which incriminated appellant");
- the case should be dismissed due to speedy trial, <u>See</u> Fla.

 R. Cr. P. 3.191(p) ("defendant not brought to trial within the 10-day period through no fault of the defendant, ... shall be forever discharged from the crime"), including the comparison of the fact-imbued episode currently charged with one that was previously nol prossed, <u>See</u> Fla. R. Cr. P. 3.191(o);
- the case should be dismissed due to lack of subject matter jurisdiction, <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, § 26.012, Fla. Stat. (circuit court "shall have exclusive original jurisdiction ... [o]f all felonies and of all misdemeanors arising out of the same circumstances as a felony which is also charged"); or
- the information should be dismissed due to a significant deficiency in alleging elements of the offense, <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, Fla. R. Cr. P. 3.140(b,o); <u>M.F. v. State</u>, 583 So.2d 1383, 1386 (Fla. 1991) ("a charging document is subject to dismissal if it fails to properly allege every essential element of the offense").

See also Albrecht v. State, 444 So.2d 8, 12 (Fla. 1984) (action against State for taking without compensation; "well settled by this Court that several conditions must occur simultaneously if a matter is to be made res judicata: identity of the thing sued for; identity of the cause of action; identity of parties; identity of the quality in the person for or against whom the claim is made").

In each of the foregoing examples, as in the determination of materiality, the trial judge makes a threshold determination pertinent to the case's ripening for trial. Moreover, the potential involvement of trial judge consideration of facts of the case, as in co-felons' confessions requiring severance, does not render the determination inappropriate for the trial judge. The consideration of facts does not render the trial judge's decision any less a legal determination, or, in Section 837.011(3)'s words, any less "a question of law." Accordingly, the pre-trial determination of "outrageous government misconduct" is "an objective question of law for the trial court," Glosson, even though it involves factual allegations.

Thus, while true that the legal determination of materiality may involve predicate factual matters, it also may involve complex legal issues, requiring the trial judge's legal expertise, such as in considering outrageous-government-conduct issues. Cf. State v. Bender, 382 So.2d 697, 700 (Fla. 1980) (in determining whether decision making is properly vested in an entity, "the practicalities of the subject matter sought to be

controlled must be considered" among other things; "statutory authority empowering these agencies to approve testing methods for the implementation of breath- and blood-testing apparatus is proper and allowable"). In a drug case, the trial judge may be required to conduct an evidentiary hearing on an allegation of outrageous-government-conduct, and perjury charges may eventually spring from that evidentiary hearing. The materiality of the testimony in the pre-trial evidentiary hearing of the drug case could involve juxtaposing the allegedly perjurious testimony against Glossen and other precedents, an exercise that the jury would be as ill-suited as the trial judge would be well-suited.

See, e.g., Taylor v. State, 634 So.2d 1075, 1076-77 (Fla. 1994).

Indeed, if materiality were a question for the jury, some Perjury prosecutions would embody a battle of the experts, in which opposing counsels call to the witness stand those purportedly well-versed in the area of the law to which the Perjury pertained to testify as to materiality or immateriality. Rather than a battery of expensive experts, who would attempt to "educate" the jurors on all the subtleties of the law, the best expert is the trial judge sitting on the case; a fortiori, the judge as the best expert, should be allowed to fulfill the legislature's intent to decide the issue of materiality as "a question of law," \$837.011(3), Fla. Stat., which, in turn, would be reviewable on appeal.

In sum, Section 837.011(3), in its wisdom, has accommodated the policy concern that falsehoods about a trivial (non-material)

matter should not constitute Perjury. Yet, it also has accommodated potential complex legal questions that can arise in determining materiality. Consistent with the constitution, the legislature could have totally dispensed with materiality as any type of requirement imposed upon the State or could have imposed upon the defense the burden of proving an affirmative defense of immateriality, but it has added it as a threshold determination for the trial judge, in effect, providing the defendant more protection than she is entitled. In any event, the trial-judge's threshold determination of materiality, as such, does not offend the United State Constitution. The trial court erred, as did the DCA.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court uphold the constitutionality of Section 837.011(3), Fla. Stat, disapprove the decision of the District Court of Appeal, approve Judge Miner's dissent to that decision, and remand for the reversal of the trial court's order of August 12, 1996.

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS

TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,

CRIMINAL APPEALS

FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

EPHEN R. WHITE

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 159089

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT [AGO# L97-1-8385]

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a copy of the foregoing APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS and its Appendix have been furnished by U.S. Mail to James T. Miller, Esq., Corse, Bell & Miller, P.A, 233 E. Bay Street, Suite 920, Jacksonville, Florida, 32202, this __18th__ day of July, 1997.

Attorney for the State of Florida

[C:\USERS\CRIMINAL\PLEADING\97108385\ELLISBI.WPD --- 7/18/97,3:14 am]